THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT
S. PHILLIP LENSKI, ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE

Docket No. 2021-000490

RECEIVED
SEP 14 2021
SC Court of Appeals

Greg German..... Appellant

v.

South Carolina Department of
Employment and Workforce..... Respondent

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Greg J. German
306 21st Avenue South #5D
Myrtle Beach, South Carolina 29577
843-283-1892
thetortmaster@yahoo.com
Appellant *pro se*

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the Department of Employment and Workforce (hereinafter “DEW”) and the Administrative Law Court determinations were arbitrary and capricious or characterized by an abuse of discretion or involved unlawful procedure.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant is an Army veteran who had never filed for unemployment during his forty-four-year history of employment. In a nutshell, what happened is that Appellant was laid off from work at Red Roof Inn in Myrtle Beach for seven (7) weeks because of the Covid pandemic and the concomitant mandatory lockdown ordered by the Governor of South Carolina. See Record. at 040; 060 at ls. 23-26.

Appellant testified that he “was unfamiliar with the unemployment system.” *Id.* at ls. 23-24.

Appellant did not know he had to certify weekly benefits, as he had never filed for unemployment before in his life, and the DEW website, when not down, was confusing. Moreover, Appellant attempted to contact DEW numerous times during the relevant period and was unable to get a human to answer the phone.

When DEW finally provided somebody to answer the phones, the DEW representative told Appellant that his file looked fine. The person on the phone was a DEW agent for the purposes of that communication.

Moreover, it is undisputed that Appellant relied upon that assertion to his detriment. The unrebutted testimony provided as follows:

“I tried to call multiple times, at least 16 times from April 4th until June and got no human response. When I finally did get a response that person told me—when I asked that person, “Please check my file. Make sure I’ve done everything right.” And she said that she did. And she said there was no problem with it, that I would get paid but it was taking longer because of the pandemic.

I waited after that for the payments, and it didn’t come....”

Id. at 061, ls. 24-31.

The undisputed evidence is that Appellee DEW provided no assistance, even though Appellant tried to call at least 16 times, and when it finally offered assistance at a time that it might have helped, the DEW agent told Appellant incorrect information that he relied on to his detriment.

When Appellant called DEW back again because no payment of unemployment benefits had been made, another DEW representative informed him of the need

to certify on a weekly basis, which is what Appellant had just learned from his neighbor.

By that time, Appellant was allowed to certify all seven weeks, but he was eventually paid for only one week. *See id.* at 065, ls. 4-12.

Appellant received one payment of \$886.00, and was not paid the \$5,316.00 for the other six (6) weeks. *See id.* at 067, ls. 11-27.

During the DEW appellate process, Appellant offered to provide his cellphone records to prove contacts and attempted contacts with DEW. *See id.* at 038. That included the statement by the first person at DEW who told Appellant that his file was fine. Additionally, Petitioner offered taped conversations of DEW representatives telling him that he would be paid for these claims very quickly.

For example, these statements were by agents of DEW:

PHONE CALL WITH DEW REPRESENTATIVE 6/19/20

DEW REPRESENTATIVE: "I submitted all of your certifications for those six weeks ... the whole month of April and two weeks in May, so when you look on your account it's going to say 'pending resolution of late claim.' So, what they're going to do is just verify the information we put in, and once it's cleared, you'll get a payment for all six weeks."

PHONE CALL WITH DEW REPRESENTATIVE 7/10/20

DEW REPRESENTATIVE: "You need to reactivate your claim. You need to do it on your portal.... Reactivate your claim because you were late in certifying benefits ... so you need to reactivate the claim...."

GREG: [After reactivating claim] "Okay, it says that I successfully submitted my application."

DEW REPRESENTATIVE: "Okay, that's all you need to do now."

GREG: "All right. Then that's it? Then, they'll send me payment for the weeks that I screwed up?"

DEW REPRESENTATIVE: "Yes, Sir, they will."

Id. Besides these representations from agents of DEW, there was the confusing nature of the DEW website, the mixed messages (including saying that a job search was unnecessary), the lack of any "tickler" system about certification of benefits. *See id.*

At the contested hearing of this matter, the Hearing Officer acknowledged that "at the time of filing in March the actual work search ... was waived." *Id.* at 060, ls. 12-13. There can be no question that the certification of employment searches was no longer a requirement at the time—after the Governor closed down the state because of the Coronavirus pandemic.

The Hearing Officer stated that notice to the Appellant of the certification requirement was “implied.” She said the following during the hearing:

“HEARING OFFICER: [A]t the time of filing in March the actual work search ... was waived. However in the question *it implied* that you have to file a weekly certification. Did you understand that requirement at the time?

GREG J. GERMAN: No, Ma’am.”

Id. at ls. 11-16 (emphasis added). Indeed, Appellant testified as follows at the hearing in response to what the Hearing Officer said:

“GREG J. GERMAN: Now it is my understanding based on what you just recited and also ... from what I’ve heard on the messages on the website and on the messages I heard on the telephone that the weekly requirement was waived as you put it, that I would no longer have to seek work because of the pandemic, and so I did not.”

Id. at 060, l. 9 – 061, l. 4. The Appellee’s best argument is that it gave “implied notice” of some additional certification requirement, while at that same time the loud message that reached the public was that the work-search certification requirement was waived.

There is nothing in the Record to show the Appellee DEW told the Appellant, on its website, on their telephone message for more than six weeks, or in a letter,

“The weekly work-search certification requirement is waived, but you still must certify each week.”

Appellant Greg German attempted many times to make sure his file was in order, but the undisputed evidence is that DEW failed to answer its phones for a month and one-half. *Id.* at 061, ls. 5-7. Then, when a human answered the telephone, the agent of DEW told Appellant that his file looked fine. The next two DEW agents told Appellant that he would be paid the unemployment compensation. *Id.* at 065, ls. 5-10, 27.

On July 23, 2020, Appellant spoke with a DEW representative in the DEW Appeals Department named Ray. *Id.* at 039. Appellant mentioned that he had recorded conversations with DEW representatives who said he would get paid. *Id.* at 065, l. 30 – 066, l. 2. Appellant also noted that he had filed Freedom of Information Act requests with DEW. *Id.* at 066, ls. 12-24; *see also id.* at 044-046 (the actual FOIA requests). Ray, the DEW representative, said that his supervisor or he would call back that day. *Id.* at 039.

That didn't happen. Nobody from DEW called back that day. *Id.* Instead, Appellant found all six of his weekly claims denied on the website later that evening. *Id.*

Additional undisputed facts include the following: Appellant did not certify six (6) weeks of unemployment until after the fact. *See id.* at 037, ¶ 2.

Appellant tried numerous times to reach DEW during that relevant time frame to ensure his application for benefits was correct, but he was only able to reach a recorded message that hung up on him. The recorded message also noted that the DEW website might show problems with the claim, but not to worry, a DEW representative would fix it. *See id.* at 037, ¶ 2.

The undisputed evidence is that when the DEW representative worked with Appellant on the phone to certify the weeks, she did not read the portion of the "determination" for certification that dealt with knowing that the claim could be held as untimely. *See id.* at 058, ls. 23-29 (Regarding the individual one-page "Determinations" for each claim: "The agent who talked to me on the telephone did not ask me the third and final question on each of those six individual determinations....").

TIMELINE AND OTHER FACTS:

March 30, 2020. Original Unemployment claim filed by Appellant with DEW.

April 14, 2020. Date Respondent DEW determined Appellant was eligible for benefits.

July 23, 2020. Date Respondent decided against six (6) weeks of benefits.

July 24, 2020. Date Respondent filed appeal with DEW.

October 14, 2020. Date of Hearing before DEW Hearing Officer.

October 15, 2020. DEW Hearing officer's Date of Order denying benefits.

October 21, 2020. Date Appellant filed appeal to DEW Appellate Panel.

November 17, 2020. Date Respondent DEW's Appellate Panel filed their final order denying benefits.

December 11, 2020. Appellant serves his Notice of Appeal to the Administrative Law Court.

April 27, 2021. Administrative Law Court enters final and appealable order.

May 13, 2021. Notice of Appeal received by South Carolina Court of Appeals.

Appellant sues for \$5,316.00 in unemployment benefits with interest, court costs and attorney's fees and for such other and further relief at law or in equity to which this Court may find him justly entitled.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review applicable to decisions of the PSC is set forth in the South Carolina Administrative Procedures Act ("APA"), S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-310 *et seq.* For the purposes of this appeal, S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380 is especially significant, as it provides,

(5) The court may not substitute its judgment for the judgment of the agency as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact. The court may affirm the decision of the agency or remand the case for further proceedings. The court may reverse or modify the decision if substantial rights of the appellant have been prejudiced because the administrative findings, inferences, conclusions, or decisions are:

- (a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
- (b) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency;
- (c) made upon unlawful procedure;
- (d) affected by other error of law;

(e) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record; or

(f) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(5).

The South Carolina Supreme Court and Court of Appeals have construed the statutory language in many cases. For example, in *Deese v. South Carolina State Bd. Of Dentistry*, 286 S.C. 182, 332 S.E.2d 539 (Ct. App. 1985), the court held that an agency decision "is arbitrary if it is without a rational basis, is based alone on one's will and not upon any course of reasoning and exercise of judgment, is made at pleasure, without adequate determining principles, or is governed by no fixed rules or standards."

ARGUMENT

WHETHER THE DEPARTMENT OF EMPLOYMENT AND WORKFORCE AND THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT DETERMINATIONS WERE ARBITRARY AND CAPRICIOUS, OR WERE CHARACTERIZED BY AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION, OR WERE THE FRUIT OF UNLAWFUL PROCEDURE.

An agency's decision "is arbitrary if it is without a rational basis, is based alone on one's will and not upon any course of reasoning and exercise of judgment, is made at pleasure, without adequate determining principles, or is governed by no fixed rules or standards." *Deese v. South Carolina State Bd. of Dentistry*, 286 S.C. 182, 184-5, 332 S.E.2d 539, 541 (Ct. App. 1985).

The record on appeal shows that the agency acted arbitrarily and capriciously in that it provided a confusing system for a first-time user to navigate while at the same time offering no assistance to him during a pandemic.

If a capable DEW agent had been available to answer questions on the phone over the first month and one-half of the Covid lockdown, this situation would not have occurred. Moreover, when a DEW agent was finally available to answer a

phone, she found no fault with Appellant's application for unemployment benefits.

These are undisputed facts in the record.

The arbitrary and capricious nature of the decision was also evidenced by other factors, including (a) the two subsequent DEW representatives who said the Appellant would receive the benefits requested, and (b) the fact that the Appellant's claims were denied immediately after the agency became aware that Appellant had filed a FOIA request and told DEW that he had taped conversations of DEW representatives.

The unrebutted evidence in the record proves that approval of the six (6) weeks of unemployment benefits was a done deal according to two DEW representatives. Yet, somehow that changed *immediately* after Appellant mentioned that he had filed a FOIA request and had taped conversations of DEW agents.

The Appellee had discretion to provide the statutory benefits, but abused that discretion by not taking into account that it offered Appellant no assistance to ensure his application for benefits was prepared properly.

In fact, what they provided was a very confusing system—especially for a first-time claimant—and absolutely no assistance with the claim, while also sending

mixed messages about (a) not having to seek employment during the government-mandated Coronavirus lockdown, and (b) stating that the unemployment claims on the individual's website portal would be marked as in error, but that a DEW agent would fix any issue. R. at 061, ls. 9-11.

It is like they let Appellant jump into the deep end of the pool knowing that he might not be able to swim, while having no life guard or swim instructor present.

Additionally, the Appellee failed to follow proper procedures in providing unemployment compensation in that proper procedures would have included an agent available by telephone or in person to work with an applicant.

The Appellee DEW has argued that Appellant did not follow the proper procedures, but the agency also failed even the most objective reasonable duty of properly offering advice to an applicant.

That failure to follow proper procedures didn't happen just once in failing to answer their telephones for a month-and-a-half, but also when a DEW agent finally got on the line and said the Appellant's application was fine, and then for a third and fourth time when Appellee's representatives stated that everything was fine and payment should be expected within days.

Appellant relied on these misrepresentations to his detriment.

DEW may argue that it could not follow proper procedure because of the Covid lockdown, but that should not be used as a shield for them and a weapon against Appellant, as his problems (and then-lack of employment) were also caused by the Coronavirus lockdown.

The standard for judicial determination of a state agency's decision is set by statute. According to that statute a court,

“ ... may reverse or modify the decision if the substantive rights of the petitioner have been prejudiced because the finding, conclusion, or decision is:

- (a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
- (b) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency;
- (c) made upon unlawful procedure;
- (d) affected by other error of law;
- (e) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record; or
- (f) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.”

SC Code § 1-23-610(B)(2013). *See also Deese v. State Bd. of Dentistry*, 286 S.C. 182, 184-85, 332 S.E.2d 539, 541 (Ct. App. 1985).

DEW'S PRINCIPAL/AGENT RELATIONSHIP WITH APPELLANT

The elements of apparent agency include: (1) purported principal consciously or impliedly represented another to be his agent; (2) third party reasonably relied on the representation; and (3) third party detrimentally changed his or her position in reliance on the representation. *See Graves v. Serbin Farms, Inc.*, 306 S.C. 60, 409 S.E.2d 769 (1991); *ZIV Television Programs, Inc. v. Associated Grocers, Inc.*, 236 S.C. 448, 114 S.E.2d 826 (1960).

Moreover, a true agency relationship may be established by evidence of actual or apparent authority. *See Fernander v. Thigpen*, 278 S.C. 140, 293 S.E.2d 424 (1982); *Fochtman v. Clanton's Auto Auction Sales*, 233 S.C. 581, 106 S.E.2d 272 (1958).

In this case, the telephone message that was the only lifeline to DEW for more than a month and one-half indicated that DEW's agents would fix any problems.

The Principal (DEW) granted authority to its agents.

Appellant relied on the representations of DEW's official agents to the tune of \$5,316.00. DEW had an opportunity at each of the hearings at the agency level to rebut allegations about what their agents told the Appellant. He, on the other hand, provided the Appellee with exact quotes from the taped conversations. DEW did not try to rebut that evidence.

DEW acted arbitrarily and capriciously by (a) not correcting the harm caused by their agent who told Appellant—to his detriment—that his file was in good shape, and (b) not abiding by the words and promises made by the next two agents who said that the unemployment compensation payments would be forthcoming soon.

DEW had the discretion to grant the unemployment for "good cause," and there we see at least two instances of good cause. This outright denial of benefits was an abuse of discretion "governed by no fixed rules or standards." *Deese v. South Carolina State Bd. of Dentistry*, 286 S.C. 182, 184-5, 332 S.E.2d 539, 541 (Ct. App. 1985); *see also* SC Code Ann. Regs. § 47-104 (for good cause standard).

THE FOIA REQUESTS AND THE TAPED CONVERSATIONS

The un rebutted evidence in the record shows that Appellant was told twice—three times if you include the first agent who said that the application looked fine—by authorized agents and representatives of DEW that he would receive payment for the six (6) weeks of unemployment benefits, but then, on the day that he mentioned to another DEW agent that he had filed Freedom of Information Act requests and had taped conversations of DEW agents, his requests were *immediately* denied. R. at 065, l. 30 – 066, l. 5.

The timeline of events show that weeks and weeks passed with assurances that payment would be received, but suddenly, on one day, that hope was slammed shut.

DEW denied the benefits. That was the exact same day Appellee learned of the FOIA requests and taped conversations.

DEW had the opportunity to introduce live testimony, documentation or other evidence into the record that their knowledge of the FOIA requests or the taping of the conversations did not affect their decision-making process.

They did not.

At the first DEW appeal hearing, the agency could have provided this evidence, but they did not.

They were fully informed that this was an issue on appeal, as it was stated clearly in the record. R. at 042-046; *see also id.* at 103-04.

Appellant exercised his rights under S.C. Code Ann. §30-4-10, *et seq.* to request documents from the public agency, and the agency retaliated against him because of it.

The South Carolina General Assembly sought specifically to make records available to citizens "at a minimum cost or delay to the persons seeking access to public documents...." S.C. Code Ann. §30-4-10.

The legislature did not intend for such requests to cost six (6) weeks of unemployment benefits, a sum of \$5,316.00.

The unrebutted evidence in this case is that the very afternoon that DEW learned of the FOIA requests and the taped conversations, it denied Appellants claims, and that action was arbitrary and capricious.

THE FEDERAL CARES ACT

Besides the funds due through the state- and employer-funded unemployment system, the Appellee also withheld Federal funds under the CARES Act. The

Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (CARES) Act was ratified to, as the Treasury Department said on its website, “provide fast and direct economic assistance for American workers....”

Under the CARES Act, unemployed workers were to receive an additional \$600.00 per week while they were out of work. This was to assist states so that they “can provide benefits quickly.” See U.S. Dept. of Labor, News Release (April 2, 2020).

Via the CARES Act, states were afforded the ability to “[p]rovide for up to 13 weeks of benefits to individuals who ... have no rights to regular UC under any other state or federal law....” Pandemic Emergency Unemployment Compensation, Sec. 2107. (The “UC” in the quote above means “unemployment compensation,” of course.)

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