THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE
ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

S. Phillip Lenski, Administrative Law Judge

Case No.: 20-ALJ-22-0340-AP

Appellate Case No. 2021-000490

RECEIVED

Sep 22 2021

SC Court of Appeals

Greg German,

Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Department of Employment
and Workforce,

Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT SC DEPARTMENT OF EMPLOYMENT AND
WORKFORCE

Paul Famolari (SC Bar # 076723)
SC Dept. of Employment and Workforce
PO Box 8597
Columbia, SC 29202
Attorney for Respondent South Carolina
Department of Employment and Workforce

Greg German
306 21st Avenue South #5D
Myrtle Beach SC 29577
Appellant

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

ARGUMENT

I. THIS COURT SHOULD AFFIRM BECAUSE THE ALC PROPERLY FOUND SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE SUPPORTED THE PANEL'S DECISION THAT APPELLANT DID NOT MEET THE ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS TO RECEIVE UI BENEFITS UNDER THE LAW SINCE HE FAILED TO FILE TIMELY WEEKLY CLAIMS.

A. Eligibility requirements to receive UI benefits under South Carolina law.

It is settled law in South Carolina that a UI claimant bears the burden of proof “to show that he met the benefit eligibility conditions and he was available for work.” *See Hyman v. S.C. Emp't Sec. Comm'n*, 234 S.C. 369, 373, 108 S.E.2d 554, 556 (1959); *Wellington v. S.C. Emp't Sec. Comm'n*, 281 S.C. 115, 117, 314 S.E.2d 37, 38 (Ct. App. 1984); *Murphy v. S.C. Emp't Sec. Comm'n*, 328 S.C. 542, 544, 492 S.E.2d 625, 626-27 (Ct.App.1997) (citing *Wellington*).

An individual is eligible to receive UI benefits for a claim week “only if the department finds he has made a claim for benefits with respect to that week pursuant to regulations prescribed by the department.” S.C. Code Ann. § 41-35-110(1). A weekly claim for UI benefits is timely filed “if received within fourteen (14) calendar days of the claim week ending date.” S.C. Code Ann. Regs. § 47-32(A).

B. Appellant did not file timely weekly claims for UI benefits as required.

The ALC properly affirmed the Panel's decision because substantial evidence in the record as a whole supports the Panel's finding that Appellant failed to establish he met the eligibility requirements under the law to receive UI benefits for the six claim weeks from the claim week ending April 4, 2020, through the claim week ending May 9, 2020.

It is undisputed that Appellant did not file claims for those weeks until June 19, 2020, more than two months after the earliest claim week ended and more than a month after the latest claim week ended. (R. p. 60, lines 17-21; p. 94). It is further undisputed that Appellant did not file timely

claims for those weeks because he did not believe he had to file a claim each week despite being provided written notification of the requirement on at least two occasions. (R. p. 7; p. 13; p. 60, lines 26-29; p. 61, lines 14-15; p. 67, lines 11-13; p. 92). Because regulation 47-32(A) requires a claimant to file a claim for benefits within fourteen days of the end of the claim week, Appellant's filings for all six claim weeks on June 19, 2020, more than five weeks after the last claim week ending date, were untimely. Thus, substantial evidence supported the Panel's decision, and the ALC properly affirmed.

Appellant essentially argues that he had good cause for filing late claims and the Department should have accepted his late filings under regulation 47-32(A). (App. Br.) This argument is founded entirely on his claim that he was ignorant of the weekly filing requirement. However, it has long been the law in this state that claiming ignorance of the law is no excuse. *See Corley v. Atl. Life Ins. Co.*, 179 S.C. 95, 183 S.E. 596, 598 (1936) ("The fact that the insured may not have been aware of this law does not excuse his failure to comply therewith."); *Fairey v. Strange*, 115 S.C. 10, 104 S.E. 325, 327 (1920) ("While there is no presumption that everyone knows the law, still ignorance of the law excuses no one."). Thus, even if Appellant was truly ignorant of the law requiring him to file weekly certifications, that ignorance is no excuse, especially considering the Department notified Appellant of the requirement on two occasions. Further, even if Appellant was unclear regarding the weekly certification requirement, despite the two notices provided during the initial claims process, Appellant could have read the clear and simple language in regulation 47-32(A) and should have had no doubt as to the requirement. Also, the Department's website contained information on the weekly certification requirement. Accordingly, Appellant's alleged ignorance of the law is no excuse, and this Court should affirm the ALC's decision.

Further, Appellant argues he had good cause for filing late claims because he alleges he was unable to speak to a Department representative despite numerous phone calls and because he was confused by the Department's waiver of the online work search requirement. (App. Br). *See* S.C. Code Ann. Regs. § 47-32(A) ("The claims representative in the Department office may accept any late filing of a continued weekly claim for good cause shown."). The Panel, however, properly exercised its discretion and authority as fact-finder and determined Appellant failed to show good cause for his failure to file timely weekly claims. Specifically, the Panel found Appellant's failure to file timely weekly claims was not due to his alleged inability to speak with a Department representative but rather because Appellant erroneously believed he did not need to file a claim each week that he wanted to receive benefits⁴. In essence, Appellant's own negligence in failing to read and understand the requirement to file weekly claims that he was provided at least twice, and Appellant's decision to wait at least twenty-one days after his determination was mailed before contacting the Department, were the but-for causes of his failure to file timely weekly claims for benefits. (R. p. 7; p. 13; p. 60, lines 10-16; p. 61, lines 1-4; p. 92).⁵

Finally, the good cause provision within S.C. Code Ann. Regs. § 47-32(A) is discretionary because the regulation provides that the Department "**may** accept any late filing." (Emphasis added). Indeed, "[t]he use of the word 'may' signifies permission and generally means that the

⁴ Although the Panel did not reference the good cause provision under S.C. Code Ann. § 47-32(A), the Panel implicitly determined Appellant did not have good cause for filing late claims by finding Appellant did not believe he had to file a claim each week and would essentially receive benefits every week without doing anything other than filing his initial application. (R. p. 2; p. 109).

⁵ Though the Panel did not specifically cite Appellant's failure to understand the weekly claim filing requirement, or the twenty-one day delay in contacting the Department, there is evidence in the record on appeal that Appellant's failure to understand and promptly act on the information the Department provided him contributed to his failure to file timely weekly claims for UI benefits. The Department presents these facts as additional sustaining grounds in support of the Panel's decision. *See I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 526 S.E.2d 716 (2000).

action spoken of is optional or discretionary unless it appears to require that it be given any other meaning in the present statute.” *Kennedy v. S.C. Ret. Sys.*, 345 S.C. 339, 352-53, 549 S.E.2d 243, 250 (2001). The Panel reasonably exercised its discretion to determine that Appellant did not have good cause for filing untimely weekly claims for benefits. Substantial evidence in the record supports the Panel’s decision. Appellant was provided written notice on at least two occasions. (R. p. 7; p. 13; p. 92). Both notifications included clear statements that he had to file a weekly certification for benefits each week. *Id.* Moreover, Appellant’s confusion regarding the waiver of the requirement to search for work online each week does not excuse his failure to file a claim for benefits. When he filed his initial claim for benefits, Appellant acknowledged understanding two clear requirements: (1) file a weekly certification; and (2) perform two job searches via SCWOS. *Id.* The waiver of the online work search requirement did not eliminate the foundational requirement to file a claim each week to receive benefits. Indeed, Appellant’s belief that he did not have to do anything beyond filing his initial claim for benefits is absurd on its face. Under Appellant’s assumption, the Department would have to pay benefits each week to a claimant without knowing whether the claimant had become reemployed or if the claimant met the weekly eligibility conditions required by law. This contention is clearly contrary to the long settled rule that it is a UI claimant’s responsibility “to show that he met the benefit eligibility conditions and he was available for work” each week. *See Hyman, supra.*

The Panel’s determination that Appellant did not file timely weekly claims was reasonable and supported by Appellant’s own testimony. Documents show that the Department provided Appellant with two separate notices that he had to file a claim for benefits each week. (R. p. 7; p. 13; p. 92). Appellant testified that he did not fully understand one of the notices and did not know he had to file a claim each week. (R. p. 60, lines 10-16; p. 60, lines 26-29; p. 61, lines 14-15; p.

67, lines 11-13). Appellant further informed the Department that he did not attempt to inquire about his claim until at least twenty-one days after the determination was mailed on April 15, 2020, which would make his first alleged attempt in early to mid-May, well after the end of most of the claim weeks he is now trying to claim. (R. p. 14). Therefore, substantial evidence supports the Panel's findings, the ALC properly affirmed the Panel, and this Court should affirm the ALC.

II. THE COURT SHOULD DISREGARD APPELLANT'S ARGUMENT THAT A PRINCIPAL/AGENT RELATIONSHIP EXISTED BETWEEN THE DEPARTMENT AND APPELLANT BECAUSE THE ARGUMENT IS UNPRESERVED.

The Court should disregard Appellant's argument, raised for the first time in his initial brief to this Court, that a principal/agent relationship existed between the Department and Appellant. "It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial [court] to be preserved for appellate review." *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998). The preservation rules requiring a party to raise its arguments and obtain a ruling on them apply to administrative proceedings. *See Brown*, 348 S.C. at 519, 560 S.E.2d at 417; *see Home Med. Sys., Inc. v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 382 S.C. 556, 562, 677 S.E.2d 582, 586 (2009) ("As in other appellate matters, we require issue preservation in administrative appeals."). "An issue that is not raised to an administrative agency is not preserved for appellate review by the ALC." *Gatewood v. S.C. Dep't of Corr.*, 416 S.C. 304, 324, 785 S.E.2d 600, 611 (Ct.App.2016).

Appellant attempts to argue that the Department must adhere to what customer service representatives allegedly told Appellant because a principal/agent relationship existed between the Department and Appellant. (App.Br.) This argument was not raised at any point prior to Appellant's initial brief to this Court. Appellant failed to raise this argument to the Tribunal, to the

Panel, or to the ALC. Naturally, none of those entities ruled on this novel argument. Appellant's argument, therefore, is unpreserved for appellate review, and this Court should disregard it.

III. THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT DID NOT ERR IN DECLINING TO ADDRESS APPELLANT'S OTHER ARGUMENTS AS THEY ARE EACH MANIFESTLY WITHOUT MERIT.

Appellant raised four arguments to the ALC that he also raises to this Court in his initial brief. Appellant also complained that the ALC "failed to mention – even once – in its order the words 'arbitrary' or 'capricious' or the term 'abuse of discretion.'" (App. Br.) The ALC, however, properly ignored Appellant's arguments because they were, and are, manifestly without merit, and this Court should similarly disregard these arguments. *See* Rule 40, SCALC ("The administrative law judge may affirm any ruling, order or judgment upon any ground(s) appearing in the Record and need not address a point which is manifestly without merit."); Rule 220(b)(2), SCACR ("The Court of Appeals need not address a point which is manifestly without merit."). While none of Appellant's arguments establish that the Panel or the ALC committed an error of law and are manifestly without merit, each are addressed below.

A. Neither the Panel's decision nor the ALC's decision were arbitrary or capricious, characterized by an abuse of discretion, or made upon unlawful procedure.

Appellant essentially argues that the Panel's decision was arbitrary or capricious, or made upon unlawful procedures, because the Department "provided a confusing system for a first-time user to navigate."⁶ (App. Br). Appellant's argument is wholly without merit because it erroneously

⁶ The Department notes that this allegedly "confusing system" successfully paid over \$5 billion dollars of state and federal benefits to hundreds of thousands of eligible claimants that managed to file timely weekly claims during the first ten months of the COVID-19 pandemic. <https://www.dew.sc.gov/news/2021-01/dew-exceeds-5-billion-benefits>

tries to assign to the Panel alleged deficiencies in the customer service the Department provided to Appellant prior to the Appellant filing an appeal.

The ALC may reverse an administrative decision only if “substantial rights of the appellant have been prejudiced **because the administrative findings, inferences, conclusions, or decisions are:** ... (c) made upon unlawful procedure; ... or (f) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by an abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.” S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(5) (emphasis added). The ALC’s review was therefore limited solely to whether the **decision** under appeal was made upon unlawful procedure or was arbitrary or capricious.

The Panel decision reviewed by the ALC was made upon the proper and lawful procedure. Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 41-35-690, the “sole and exclusive appeal procedure” for disputing the Department’s decision on UI benefits is for an individual to appeal a determination to the Tribunal, then to the Panel, and then to ALC. That procedure was followed precisely in this case. Appellant has not argued that the Panel based its decision on erroneously admitted or omitted evidence or that the Panel otherwise committed any procedural errors. The only unlawful procedures alleged by Appellant are a confusing UI system and poor customer service he encountered months before he ever filed an appeal. Those are not “unlawful procedures” that are grounds for reversal of an administrative decision as contemplated by Section 1-23-380(5).

Moreover, the Panel’s decision is not arbitrary and capricious when it is supported by substantial evidence in the record. *See Deese v. S.C. State Bd. of Dentistry*, 286 S.C. 182, 184-85, 332 S.E.2d 539, 541 (Ct.App.1985) (“A decision is arbitrary if it is without a rational basis, is based alone on one’s will and not upon any course of reasoning and exercise of judgment, is made at pleasure, without adequate determining principles, or is governed by no fixed rules or standards.”). As argued above, the Panel’s decision was based on clear South Carolina law and

supported by substantial evidence in the form of Appellant's own testimony and documents entered into evidence. Appellant bears the burden of showing that he met the eligibility requirements for receiving UI benefits each week. *See Hyman, supra*. To receive UI benefits for a given week, Appellant was required to file a claim within fourteen days of the week ending date. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 41-35-110(1); S.C. Code Ann. Regs. §47-32(A). The record is undisputed that Appellant failed to do so. (R. p. 60, lines 17-21; p. 94). Moreover, Appellant failed to file timely claims because he did not read and understand the information the Department provided him and because he waited an excessive period of time to contact the Department to inquire about his benefits. (R. p. 60, lines 10-16; p. 60, lines 26-29; p. 61, lines 14-15; p. 67, lines 11-13). The Panel's decision, therefore, was not arbitrary and capricious because it was made upon the rational basis of applying clear South Carolina law to a largely undisputed record. Consequently, the ALC did not err by failing to use the words "arbitrary," "capricious," or "abuse of discretion" in affirming the Panel's decision because the Appellant's arguments on those points were manifestly without merit.

B. Neither the Panel nor the ALC erred by refusing to accept Appellant's speculation that he was denied UI benefits because he made a request for records under the Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) and had recorded customer service calls.

Appellant argues that the Panel, and implicitly the ALC, erred by refusing to find that the Department denied Appellant benefits because he made a FOIA request and recorded calls with customer service representatives. (App. Br). Appellant's argument is based on nothing more than rank speculation and coincidence, and it ignores the clear South Carolina law that compelled the result in the Panel's decision. Appellant's argument is manifestly without merit.

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